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Muslim caliphs, sultans and princes paid special
iribute w Jerusalem where many wagf establish-
‘ments were erected. This charitable deed was not
limited to the ruling class bur it was also open to
many other philanthropists. These wagfs build-
ings, supportéd by wagf, had played a significant
role in determining the design of the inner city of
Jerusalem. Moreover, buildings belonging to wagf
included entire markets as well as schools and
hospitals. The extensive presence of such estab-
fishments inside Jerusalem’s walls not only detes-
mined the religious features of Jerusalem but also
affected its residential and commercial landsmarks.

This research proposes that establishments
supported by wagfand their affiliated real estate
played a crucialrole ia the building of Jerusalem
and developing its architecture, Through knowing
the dates when the wagf buildings were con-
structed, one can identify the periods of building
in Jerusalem and the architectural devetopment of
the ciry. It should be noted that these esrablish-
ments were not restricted to Muslims but they also
included Christian and Jewish wagf. This research
paper will rely on judicial documents such as
those from the court records [s7ifl]. of the Islamic
Qttoman court of Jerusatem [mabkasma shariyya)
as well as from the Jerusalem wagf archive.

The urban organization of the city

Jerusalem’s Old Ciry [intra-muros] is a small
mountairous area that does not exceed one kil-
ometer. It rises 2,500 £ above sea level and is sur-
rounded by a wall dating back to 1800 B.C. {De

The Role of the Islamic Pious Foundations [ Wagf]
in Building the Old City
during the Islamic Periods [637-1917]

of Jerusalem

Musa Sroor

Department of History, Birzeit Universiry, Palestine

Saulcy 1866, 424). Up until the secend half of the
19th century, construction in Old Jerusalem was
limited to the geographical space within the walls.
(Cuneo 2000, 2: 219). The intra-muros area was
not able to respond to the demographic and cul-
tural developments witnessed by the city dur-
ing that period. Thus, extra-muros bufldings and
neighborhoods began to appear which resulted
in the emergence of a new city with its unique
architectural features and cultural identity. This
shift had come as a result of developments in the
city during the 19th century including popula-
tion growth, shortage in. areas suitable for building
intra-muros and high rental prices. All these fac-
tors combined, as well as other factors, led towards
extra-muros building, ie. in the New Jerusalem
(Sroor 2010a, 55-56).

Jerusalem's Old City s divided into four quar- .
ters according to religious and sectarian affilia-
tion: Islamic, Christian, Armenian and Jewish. By
studying the records [sifill] of the Islamic court of
Jerusalem in the Ottoman period, one notes that
the word “quarter” was nor used to refer to the
Islamic population in Jerusalem; instead, this sec-
tarian and religious concept was used to refer to
non-Muslim quarcers (sl 282, 1215/1800, 51).
This refers to the differences between the Muslim.
and the dbimmi [non-Muslim] who lived in an
Islamic stare. For Muslims, the records [sifill] of
Jerusalem’s judge show that the sectarian concept
of the quarter was not used. On the other hand,
the quarter was characterized by a material aspect
rather than religious implications. referring, for
example, to a family such as the al-Sharaf quar-
ver (sifilf 288, 1221/1806, 89) or o a profession
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such as al-Jawilda quarter [dyeing leather] (si7edi

287, 1220/1803, 86) or to construction like Bab
al-"Amtd [Damascus Gate], one of the Jerusalem’s
Intra-muros gates (sijilf 281, 121411799, 12).

The Mustim Judrtey

The Muslim quarter constituted one of the larg-
est quarters of Old Jerusalem where most of the
demographic, architecrural and economic activi-
tes perraining o Muslims Were concentrared.
This guarrer is locared in the north-eastern and
east-southern part of Old Jerusalem, This area is
close to al-Agsa Mosque where many religious
and educational institutions were locared as well
as economic activities relared 1o these institurions

(Chouraqui 1996, 166).

The Christian quarter

The Christian quarter consisted of buifdings,
strects, markets and instirurions operated by the
Christians of Jerusalem, especially those centered
around the Church of the Holy Sepulcher. Thac
is why this area was called the Christian quarter as
referred to in the Islamic court of Jerusalem (szidl
287, 1220/ 1805, 93). The Participation of the
Christians of Jerusalem in the campaign organ-
ized by the Fatimid rulers from 1033 10 restore
and fortify the walls of Jerusalem had given them
the right o establish their owg fortified quarter,
which extends from Bab al-Khali] in the west o
Bib al-"Amid in the north, This area later becamne
known as the “Christian Quarter.” Preceeding
the year 1033, we do not have any documents
which mentioned any existence of a private quar-
ter for the Christians or a quarter which bore their
name (Sroor 2010b, 151). Therefore, the middle
of the 11th century could be considered the dare
of the beginning of the Chyistia, Quarter, which
was officially recognized by the ruling Islamic
wthorities, At that time, it was known then as
atriarch [al-Batrak] Quarter. The material sup-
sort by the Christians of Jerusalem which came
rom the Byzantine emperor fed to the signing of
Lragreement berween the Farimid Caliph and the
Syzantine Emperor Constantine, The Emperor
ledged to fund the construction of the section
f the wall adjacent to the Christian churches
hich corresponded to the area surrounding the
hristian Quarter — provided thar this quarter

would be limited to the Christians only. Nop.
Christians could nor live with them, This quar-
ter would be placed under the authority of the
Patriarch. Before this agreement, Jerusalem resi.
dents of different religions lived in all the quarters
side by side due o the absence of private quarrerg
(Hiyari 1990, 133-134),

The Armenian guarter _

The Armenian quarter was given this name
in relation to the Armenians who lived in i
according to the records of the Islamic court of
Jerusalem, the Armenians were Christians, This
quarter is located in the southwestern part of
the city (Ben-Arieh 1984, 243). Most of the
Armenian properties are found in this quarter

with other religious Armenian facilities outside .

this quarter, especially in the Christian quarter
near the Church of the Holy Sepulcher such a5
the Church of St, John, which is located in the
courtyard of the Church of the Holy Sepulcher.
One should also note thar other Christian com-
munities had properties in the Armenian quarter,
It should be also noted thar some Islamic prop-

erties and wagf buildings existed in this qQuarcer
{Sroor 20104, 78-79).

The Jewish Quarter _
The Jewish Quarter is considered the smalles
quarter in terms of area, According to Baedeker
(Baedeker 1893, 22}, this quarter is locared in the
southeast of the city, south of the al-Silsila gate
and 1o the east of the Prophet David road. Ir is
surrounded by some of the Islamic quarters from
the cast such as the al-Asali, al-Qarttin and al-
Sharaf quarters. From the south, it is surrounded
by al-Maydan and al-Maslakh quarters {Baedeker
1893, 22}. According to Finbert, this quarter was
known by thar name in the 13th century A.D.
when the Jews sertled in it Up unril the 15th
century, their number did not exceed 500 per-
sons {Finbert 1955, 352),

Islamic pious foundations, construction
space and power

From the moment of the Tslamic conguest of
Palestine in the time of Caliph “Umar in 637,

i 1 the death of the Prophet
thﬁf&?ﬁdﬁiﬂiﬁim was the center of atren-
l\;in for the Muslim communiry. Contro,lf gf
;siamic Jerusalem passed through two ways. The
first started with the Isla.mi(? conguest at'nd.wefotgugp

ntil the Crusader occupation of r;-he city in f
’Lll”he second began with che Islamic reconquest o
the city by Saladin in 1187 and en.dcd When ﬁhe
Otroman control came to an end 1.1_1 1917 wi e'n
the British occupied Jerusalem. Dur.mg _those peti-

ds, both Muslim and non-Muslim interest in
c:he)city was evident, which was represented by
the establishmerit of wagf found‘a.tions theric by
individuals from both communities. The aﬁe
amount of wagf foundations were largely: a result
of the absence of an official state _role in manl);'
aspects of civil society structures in areaf- suc

as health, education, social services and re 1g101.lls
affairs. Moreover, wagf played an important role
being a form of charity and 2 means to ‘becci;}}e
close to God {Deguilkem 1986, 53; al-‘Amd'iun

2 Wlﬂ}/;zq?é pii;)ed an important role in building th;

city culturally, which entailed all aspects rela:fe
to the process of development and cconstructmnf

not only in relation to the physwal. aspectfl 0

economic development and construction such as
buildings, markers, caravanserais, etc. (Leeuwlen

1999, 180-182; al-"Arn&'tit 2011, 75-76}) but also

included the human and intellecrual .developmeflt

of Jerusalem's  community [education, schoi 8

libraries, Sufism movements] . Wagf was a 53

important in terms of supporting t.hc Eoorhan

needy and providing food and housing for Eﬂ;&m,

treazing the sick, housing the travelers (Deguilhem
6). :

20%4 \‘Nz9fo)llow the historicalddf:velo[-)n}ent 0::; trhne

ce of the wagf foundations in erusalern,

Svl:enriirel that it coingi]::led with the Fcrm‘ano‘n of

the Muslim community there. Sources md.lcaﬁ:
that the Caliph “Umar built the ﬁ_rst mosque in

Jerusalem and it is this mosque which consticutes

the foundations of the present al-Agsé mosque.
Due to the face that Jerusalem is a mo.untam(.)uﬁ
city where warer is not available, t.he third Calip

‘Uthmin endowed che Silwén spring for the bej;jl-
efit of Jerusalemites berween 644 an.d 656 A ).
to ensure that water was free and contmualiy-ava;l-
lable to the inhabitants of Jerusalem. The Silwin
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spring was the first Islamic wagf in Jerusalem
i G, 108). ‘
(Dlurfl tl}?: Umay)yad period, the Caliph ‘Abd
al-Malik [685-705] established wgzgf properties dzo
support magnificent buildings conslderec% o be ide
most imporzant in the cities of the Muslim wor ,
for example, the Dome of the Rock and a]-AqsGa
mosque (Gif 1996, 11-13; Rosen_-Ayalon 193‘;,l
389). Caliph ‘Abd al-Malik and his son al-Wali
constructed these facilities in the same place Whe}'e
‘Umar ibn al-Khatedb buile che fissc mosque in
Jerusalem. This place is known in Islamic history
as al-Tiaram al-Shartf (Neuwirth 200.0, 1: 88)h
This term is used to denote the region whic
is located in the southeastern part of ]erusalemf
occupied by al-Agsd mosque anfi the Dome od
the Rock as well as everything in ber}v?en and
around these mosques, including the religious an
cultural facilities. This covers an area tha.t consti-
tures 179 of the surface of Jerusalem. This .n‘sgmrllt
is considered to be the most important facility E
the Jerusalem wagfs, ic formed the nucleus of t.i.e
Jerusalem Islamic wagf as most of the wagf facili-
ties centered around it. In order o ensure the per-
formance of these facilicies for their services, many
of the princes and the city elite Cnd(}W(':‘d a la.rge
portion of the commercial real estate mcludm‘g
markets, shops, catavanserais, bathrooms anfiggn-
cultural land which supported the wa_qf facilities.
The large and rapid development. in the w.a?f
facilities in Jerusalem coincided wich Sa]ad%ns
conquest of Jerusalem in 1187 aftf:l: the expulsion
of the Crusaders. During that period, ]erusalcrr;
had witnessed radical changes in some aspects o
its development and in the composition of. its
population as welf as changes in its admlmstratl(l)‘n
and social life. Despite these changes, the pub ic
features in Jerusalem, especiaily thc'topographl-
cal ones, continued as before (Hiyari 1990, 16§—
167; Meshorer 1996, 413). After he had settled in
Jerusalem, Saladin’s work inc[u&ed'not only est:ilb—.
lishing the foundations of his political and admu‘i;
istrative rule but he also had erased the symbo
of the Crusader presence ir)l the city {Sroor 2010a,
; Hillenbrand 2009, 7).
15%u11_1minating this policy, Sa[adi_n worked to
dedicare and consolidate the Islamic presence in
this quarter through the establishment of buddzrfs
dedicated to wagf institutons at the level of the



232 People & Organizations / Property & the Real Espare Marker

local community that worked o provide services

to the residents of Jerusal
to the city. To achieve this purpose, an impor-
tant hospital carrying his name was construcred to
deliver therapeutic services 2o, the population and
to serve as an educational insticution in the field
of medicine. He brought doctors and secured the
arrival of drugs 1o this hospital (Is3 1981, 230).
This hospiral is located in the Christian quarter
on the south side of Chucch of the Holy sepul-
cher ar the place now known as al-Dabbagha, Siiq
al-Bazér and the German Chureh [Church of the
Redeerner] is now found at this place (‘Arif 1992,
178; Eddé 2009, 195-197). In order to ensure the
operation of this hospital, Saladin endowed dozens
of picces of real estate to take care of the hospi-
tal's expenses, These included houses, shops, mar-
kets and agricultura) land mostly locared within
Jerusalem. These wagf also included 75% of che
Bani Sa'd quarter and the entire farm locared in
al-Tfranj quarter farm (Sroar 2010b, 154). In
other words, an impormart part of the wagf real
estate is focated in the Chrigrian quarter.
Sultan Saladin had also established in 1189 5
large institution for Sufism that was known as
al—Khénqéh al—Salﬁ.hiyya as a place of residence,
worship and teaching for Sufls in Jerusalom {Wa
2127.3/927/13: Hawari 2007, 38-39). This Ehin-
gédh, established by Saladin in the Christian quar-
ter, was the first institurion for Sufism in Jerusalern;
it was erected in the place known historically
as Dir al-Barrak [The House of the Patriarch].
This khingsh is locared berween the Church of
the Holy Sepulcher from the south, the sreer
which borders it from the north is now known as
Khingah Streer. To ensure the continuity of the
work of these Institutions, Safadin had endowed a
wonsiderable amount of rea] estate in and outside
‘erusalem (Sroor 2010c, 85), In 1192, Saladin
dso established al-Madrass al-Salshiyya [school
or higher religious studies and Islamic law], in the
lace of the Church of St Anne, which was con.-
idered to be the most famous in Jerusaleny's his-
y for teaching Shafi’ figh [jurists). This school,
o which Saladin endowed many pieces of rea)
tate (Lircle 1990, 180; Edde 2009, 197), derived
* reputation as the headquarters of the prevail-
g school of thought in Jerusalem in both the
vyubid and Mamlulk periods, In Jerusalem, six

em and those coming

madrasas are known to have been founded by the
Ayyubids, “one was founded by Saladin, one by
Saladin’s son al-‘Afdal, one by his treasur
by his nephew al-Miazzam Ts4, and o
Kurdish” émir (Hawari 2009, 220). -
Historical sources also indicate thay many
Islamic institutions were builr in the Christian
Quarrer during this peried. In
the king al-Muchafar Shihab al-Din Ghagg ibn
al-Sultdn al-Malik al-‘Adj] al-"Ayyitbi had cop.
verted a house located nexe to Safadin’s hospira
to function as a zdwiya Ibuilding used for Sufism],
which was known as al-Darkah, he endowed wagf
for this zhwiya. A church near the castle was also
converted to a zdwiyah, this was called Zawiy,
al-Shaykh Ya'qib al-‘Ajami, according to Muijtr
al-Din al-Hanbali who sajd thar this church wag
constructed by the Romans. Another 2dwiya was
esiablished near the Khangh al-Salahiyya knowy
as al-Hamra’ and a madrasy close o the Church of
the Holy Sepulcher (@l-"Ulaymi 1999, 1 89-99),
Histerical sources and archaeological evidence
also indicate thar a number of Ayyubid sultans
(1187-1250] contributed towards the establish-
ment of wagf buildings in Jerusalem such a5
mosques and schools. In 1194, Saladin’s eld-
est son, al-Malik al-Afdal, endowed and builr
madrasa carrying his name for teaching Maliki
Sigh. This school was builr in al-Maghiriba quar-
ter where the Moroccan immigrants used tq
settle, most of Moroccan immigrants belonged
to the Maliki maedfhbab (Litde 1990, 1 80). al-
Malik al-Afdal cregted many wagh for this quar-
ter for the benefit of the Moroccan immigrans
and it was later named the Morocean Quarter.,
The limits of this quarter as mentioned in the
wagf documehr: the city wall from the south,
al-Haram ai-Shastf from the east, Bab-al-Siksila
leading to al-Haram al-Sharif from the north and
al-Sharaf quarter from the west. This wagf was
considered to be the first endowment granted to
the Moroccans in Jerusalem (Tibaws 1978, 13).
The records of the Islamjc Court irdicated thar
many of the wagf endowed by the Moroccans in
their quarter were to subsidize mosques, zdwiyas,
houses and shops like the ones endowed by Sheikh
Umar al-Masmtds, Ungil the year 1967, these

numbered abour 140 pieces of real esate ( Wagf
13/1272/5.28,’13).

ne by

<, two |

the year 1216, -

ing the same stragegy, the Mamluk sul-
Foj{lloggg?lt;]&] competed in building -waqf
tansd tions in Jerusalem, especially educational
four %his pot only contribured to the éevelol_a-
one of the scientific and cultural movement in
mEntalem bue it also participated in the‘ar.chl-
s | d::velopmént represented in the buildings
v kets which those sultans had constrt{cted
aﬂj gi:ich left us with an importan: ?.ICh_ltCC-
anal heritage. This development also mc.luded
the conomzi:c sector through the construction of
the Eets caravanserais, public baths and f)ther eco-
ma;-rnic instications but also by endowing many
n'(l}la es, farms and agriculeural lands scarrered in
Zill reggions of Palestine where their wzfgf reventes
were allocated to spend on the sultans _wagdf insti-
utions in Jerusalem. The Ma{mluks create mor‘;c1
than G4 establishments, which were supl:.aor;}el
by wagf foundations concentrated rf'losr.ly in the
west and nosth of al-Haram al-Sh.arzf. To ensure
the funcsioning of these insticutions, the waqc{
revenues of hundreds of shops, houses, fa_rmilas‘li
—whether inside or outside Jerusalem — Wi:rc1 9;7-
jcated towards these instir;gig)ns (Burgoyne \
-244; Schaefer 1983, .
10?[‘!3'34 éhristia_n Quarter also experienced 2 boc}xlrfl
thanks to an interest by the Mamluk su.ltays. ’1;}] 15;
quarter was important for ]erusal:?m 'd‘l.![!{.'lg a
era: the Mamluks stationed the police in this quar-
ter near the Saladin hospital. In addltlon, m;{ly
markets were created in this quarter, nameigl ug
al-Hubtb [the grain market] ﬁ‘)r which muc da.n’
was allocated on the south side (.)f the Salas in's
biméristin [hospital]. The main -ma‘rkets_ :in
Jerusalem were found to the east o.f tius b‘;fzf:zr 72
here most of the economic activities -
ged out (Sroor Zﬂl?b, 157-158?. f}ie Cl\ﬁjgﬂnzﬁ
aléwiin built a mosque in
zziti:r%ear the Church of the Holy SePulcchller.
The records of the Islamic Court spec1fy- a,;
the Muslim judge of Jerusalem had appo;r{ltek
the Custodian of the NDblf.:. Dome of the d.0;:1
with the help of the late Haj.] Hu._saw Effendi al-
Khalidi in the job of administracing the mos;%l)e
and its endowment (53l 282, 1215/1800, 120).
The Mamluk era is considered a golden oncfi:
for the wagf institutions in }c:ru.salem, compare
with other periods especially during the Ot;omtzz
period [1516-1917], which was marked by

M. Sroor / Islamic Pious Foundations in Building Jerusalem 233

fishment of limited wagf institutions except
;z;a&e period of Sultan Suleiman' the Magﬁﬁcmf
[1520-1566]. Jerusalem had rcccn.red muc] aTl:l:enf
tion from this sultan who rebuilt th'e wells o
Jerusalem in their current form, after it was IE a
state of destruction for more than 309 yc:.za.rsla2 1691’
it was destroyed by king Tsi al-Ayydbi in
i . 201). .
(A;ﬂlilsz?’?Rixe%me, the wife of Sultan Suleiman
the Magnificent, established the greatest and ZIO“
important wagf institution not only in }erusTaE?'l
but in of all Palestine (Heyd }9.69’ 139).- hls
institution was known as K_hass1-k.1 Sultan[. the
imperial public kitchen located in .:he Isd amic
quarter near al-Aqsa Mosque. It Is situare hr_:ﬁl
the southern side of 2 lane climbing ap the hill,
from the Bab en-Nizir of the HAara.m Er{do';‘tﬁ:e
to the Street called after the Khin ez-Zez}. 515
lane is known by several names, such as Age ;t
ar-thiyyé” (Stephan 1944, 172—17?!).' Frf)m the
wagfiyya [endowment deed] f?r d1_1s‘1nslt1tutiin,
which was registered in the s#ills, it is clear tlat
this endowment formed a huge urbar'1 comﬁ) E);
and included a mosque, a caravanserai, a schoo
and 53 rooms for a residence f(?r Suﬁs.. Morc:lver,
it included a kicchen that provided da.lly' m; 1s to
the poor and travelers and those whc_) live C'mg
to al-Aqsi Mosque. What is more, it coru:ainef
an oven which produced 2000 fadilas [loaves 21
bread] daily. In order to allocate enough ﬁleanm d
revenues, the wagf founder, Roxelane, en ?W}f.
34 villages and farms to cover the expenses of this
endowment (Siill 270, 1557/964., 18-27).

All the waygf instications menuor}ffd abovi are
classified as chatitable wagfs. In addition to these,
there are also hundreds of farm.ly wagfs. A ques%
tion arises here: “what is the size and natu;‘e o
the wagf properties in }erusalsm, .whether am-
ily or charitable endowments?” It is not easy tcr

" precisely answer this question for se\lreral reasons:
The firsc is the difficulty of separating the ft_w.tgf
properties in the Old City of '}c_iusa.lerfl rﬁfn
those outside it due to the close mlterrellmonih ip
berween the center and the oucskirrs since they
were the main suppliers that channeled their revé
enues to the wagf institutions of the center, aty
the difficulty of derermining these p:opert}estgr;
the surrounding aress. The second _re?.sond 151.
absence of precise and official sratistics dealing
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with the wagf properties not only in Jerusalem
but in Palestine in general. The available statistics
in the published sources are not reliable and can-

essential role of these wagf institutions in deter.
mining the features of construction and property

not be trusted because they depend on estimarion
and speculation. For example, Dumper provides

statistics for the proportion of the family and wagf

charitable properties in Jerusalem based on the
estimates of the former officials in the Jordanian
government and in the Wagf Administration in
Jerusalem as well as on interviews conducted in
1986 with six mutawalli [wagf adminisuztors] of
the major family endowments in Jerusaler,

Based on these peoples’ estimations, Dumper
came to the following conclusion: wagfreal estate
in Old Jerusalem: was estimated at 45-509% wich
the exception of the area of al-Haram al-Shagif, I
we add the area of al-Haram al-Shasif, which is
17% of the Old City, the sum total of the wagf
property in the Old City would become 67%
{Dumper 1992, 190-191).

Through the analysis of the various docu-
ments and archives concerning the wagf the
following statistics may be cited: 27 mosques as
weil as al-Haram al-Sharif, 70 madrasas [religious
sichools], two khdngdhs, 16 zdwiyas, seven ribass.
[t should be noted that the following wagf real
:state were endowed to spend on the aforesaid
nstitutions: 11 bathrooms, 14 caravanserai, all
he shops in al-Qartdnin, and in al-Husur mar-
tets, 580 shops and stores [ocated in the rest
of the markets of Jerusalem. This is in addi-
ion to all the houses located in al-Qarrinin
nd in al-Husur markets as well as 330 houses
ocated in different quarters of Jerusalem. Besides
his, the follewing should be added: dozens of
live oil presses and wheat mills, farms and
rchards located within the walls of Jerusalem.
‘urthermore, 150 villages and farms inside and
utside Palestine were endowed either wholly or
artially to spend on Jerusalem's wagf 1t should
{so noted that there were more than 400 proper-
es [shops, houses, mills, presses] were endowed
s family wagf (Sroar 2010a, 377).

The presence of this important amount of
lamic wagf in Jerusaler in a small area which
less than one km?, along with property and
al estate with private ownership, as well as the
agfand institutions of non-Muslims indicate the

ownership in Jerusalem and in determining the
funcrions and tasks of these wagfestablishments,
The Jerusalemite historian and the former mayor
of Jerusalem ‘Arif al-‘Arif [1892-1973] tells us
that in 1876, Jerusalem had 1,320 shops which
employed 1,920 people working in various crafys,
trades and professions, representing many religious
communities that lived in Jerusalem as follows:
501 Jews, 807 Muslims, 357 Romar Catholics,
146 Latins, 40 Protestant, 69 Armenians (Arif
1992, 348-350). Hence, we see that most of the
shops in the Old City were wagf _
The radical changes caused by Muslims since
the year 637 through the building of wagf insti-
tutions in the city included the eastern part of the
city whete there was no construction or building on
the ruins of ancient buildings. Sources indicate thar
this part was neglected before the Islamic conguest
of the city (Duri 1990, 108). The building of al-
Haram al-Sharif, which occupies an importanr pare
of the city, contributed to a new overall urban plan-
aing for Jerusalem, especially after the construc-
tion of walls and tens of schools supported by wigf
around the al-Haram al-Sharif area. The dearance
of buildings in this part of the city allowed for the
emergence of wagf markets of a new architectural
design such as al-Qattinin market with a length of
94.5m. and a'width of 5.5m. (Golvin 1967, 107).
New wagf quarters appeared for the first time like
al-Maghdriba Quarter, which occupies the south-
eastern part of the city. Houses and Tslamic reli-
gious sites were set up in chis quarter, Ar the end of
the Ottoman periad, the number of wagfreal estate
was about 140 properties (Wagf3/s, 28/1272/13).
The farge number of Islamic wagfin Jerusalem
provided permanent sources of funding through
the construction of shops, markets, baths and car-
avanserais in Jerusalem or through the reconstruc-
dion of existing buildings belonging to wagf. This
explains che proliferation of hundreds of cammer-
cial wagf real estate in the various markets and
quarters of Jerusalem. This research sheds light on
the important role played by the wagf'in build-
ing the Old City of Jerusalem in accordance with
new architectural models that do not differ from
those found in other Islamic cities such as Cairo,
Damascus and Tunis. '
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This research aims to provide some empirical
evidence on mechanisms leading to real estate
pricing in carly modern Milan between the 16th
and 18th centuries, with a special focus on the
role played in this process by the sifma — in both
senses of evaluation and reputation — of the engi-
neers belonging to the Coliege of Engineers,
Aschitects and Land Surveyors in Milan fhere-
after referred to as “the College™. T will use
here the term “engineer” — instead of the word
“aechitect” — as it is the one that most frequently
appears in sources. Howaver, it should be kept
in mind that in modern Iraly this term is used
to indicate a professional person with compos-
ite funcrions, who at the same time carries out
engineeting apd architectural activities (Contardi
ané Curci 1991; Mazzi and Zaggie 2004; Bossi,
Langé and Repishet 2007).

This research, in particular, deals with a quite
negleted aspect of the multiple funceions taken
on by these professionals: their evaluation of
houses, workshops and flats distributed in the
urban space. To analyze this acrivity, 1 have
collecsed several historical - documents availa-
ble in four main archives: the Archive of the
Venerable Factory of the Duomo of Milan — one
of the biggest property owners in Milan {(Barbot
20082, 22-80; Barbot and Mocarelli 2011) — the
Archive of the State of Milan [ASM], the Archive
of the Civic History of Milan [ASCM] and the
Archive of the College of the Azchiteces of Milan
[ACAM]. From them I obtained several Statusi
[Regularions] of the Milanese College and aito-
gether a set of 300 estimates and notarial deeds
pertaining 0 300 purchases made berween 1565

Between Market and Architecture:
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Michela Barbot
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to 1796 of 100 residential real estate units {called
“houses” — case — or “apartments — appartd-
menti — by the sources], 100 productive and com-
mercial unics [“workshops,” i.e. bosteghe] and 100
units with a mixed function [the so-called “houses
with workshop,” i.e. case con botregal.

I chose 1565 for the beginning of this study
because of its importance in the urban his-
tory of Mitan: the walls circling Milan [the so-
called “Spanish Walls”] were completed in that
year (Leidy 1985), while two years previously the
College of Milan was founded. The final date of
the study [1796] coincides with the end of the -
Habsburg’s domination over Mitan [begun in
1535] and — as we will see — with the closure of
the College and the urban guilds.!

My main research question can be expressed
as follows: on what basis did Milanese engineers
define the value of urban buildings in eardly
modern Milan? This question is highly relevant
for two major reasons. First, answering this
question could help to clarify the logics and
mechanisms at work in one of the most important
econormic sectors of pre-industrial societies. As in
many other centres of the pre-industrial era, like
in Milan, in fact, the urban building sector is one
of great importance, coming third after the textile
and food secrors (Cipolla 1974; Barbor 2008
Mocarelli 2008b). Despite this relevance, the logic
of the establishment of real estate prices remains a
sort of “mystery” for historians. This hardly comes
as a surprise: as many social scientists {(Halbwachs
1909, 277-80; Bourdieu 2000a; Karpik 2007}
have shown, such a mystery, in fact, is largely
due to the characteristics of the house in so far



